A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER 

The State of Washington, Petitioner here and Respondent 

below, respectfully requests that this Court review two issues from 

the Court of Appeals' published decision at State v. Rich, No. 

70711-6, slip op. at 1 (Wash. Ct. App. Div. I, March 23, 2015). 

B. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

1. Can reckless endangerment be proved where a highly 

intoxicated person drives in excess of the speed limit and passes a 

marked patrol car on the right while there is a small child in the front 

seat of the driver's car, or is the crime proved only if there is also 

evidence of some additional measure of bad driving? 

2. If reckless endangerment can be proved where a highly 

intoxicated person speeds with a small child in the front seat of her 

car absent additional evidence of demonstrably dangerous driving, 

was the evidence presented in this case sufficient to convict the 

defendant of the crime? 

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

King County Sheriffs Deputy Paul Mulligan was on patrol in 

a marked car at 8:09 p.m. when he saw a reported stolen car. 
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RP 73-74, 89. He was travelling in the inside lane at about 35 

miles per hour and the stolen car passed him in the outside lane. 

RP 75. He pulled behind the car "and was able to catch up to it at 

about 50 miles an hour." RP 75. He followed the car for about four 

blocks without activating his lights or siren because he was waiting 

for backup. RP 78. The car pulled into the driveway of an 

apartment building, the deputy activated his lights, the car stopped, 

the front door opened, and the deputy got out of his car to wait 

alongside the stolen car. RP 78-79. He clearly heard Andrea Rich, 

the occupant, say in a loud voice to the passenger, something to 

the effect of "[T]ell them we just found the keys and just got in the 

car." RP 79. The deputy had kept the car in his constant sight. RP 

79. Rich was talking to the passenger and not paying any attention 

to the deputy, so he simply waited for backup. RP 79-80. 

Deputy Copeland arrived as backup within about one 

minute. RP 143-44, 150. After a third officer arrived one or two 

minutes later, Rich was arrested. RP 145, 150. She was wearing a 

boot-like cast. RP 80, 146. 

The deputies believed that Rich was intoxicated. RP 80, 

146. Deputy Mulligan testified that she was talking loudly to the 

little boy in the passenger seat, her eyes were "pretty glassy and 
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watery," and she stared as if she was "not completely with it, not 

knowing what was going on." RP 81. Deputy Mulligan noted that 

the child in the passenger seat was about seven or eight years old 

and appeared scared, his heart was racing wildly, and he "wasn't 

really sure what to say and what to do." RP 81. The keys to the 

car were in his pocket. RP 82. 

Deputy Copeland noted, too, that Rich was speaking to the 

child "in a whispered tone but very loudly." RP 152. Deputy 

Copeland interviewed Rich and said "her demeanor was kind of all 

over the place," she was erratic, her voice was up and down, and 

she gave contrary stories in a short space oftime. RP 146. As she 

told various stories her speech was slurred. RP 148. 

Rich was transported to a police facility where her breath 

was tested by Washington State Patrol Trooper Jon Liefson. RP 

108. He noted that her eyes were bloodshot and watery, she 

smelled strongly of alcohol, and her speech was repetitive and 

slurred. RP 110-12. Her moods swung between crying and happy 

and polite. RP 117. She showed poor coordination by, for 

example, struggling to get pieces of paper the trooper had 

requested. RP 117. He categorized the level of alcohol odor as 
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"strong" on a scale that includes medium, strong, and obvious. RP 

118. He categorized her level of intoxication as "obvious." RP 118. 

Trooper Pedro Zepeda testified that the test results from 

Rich showed a BAC reading of .183 and a second reading of .188. 

RP 177. The Washington State forensic toxicologist noted that a 

person would have to consume about nine to ten shots of standard 

proof alcohol to achieve a BAC reading of .188. RP 134. 

At trial, in a brief conversation regarding witness scheduling, 

the trial court noted that defense counsel probably did not care 

about the name of the toxicologist because, "it's not that important 

to the defense, since that is not the issue" in this case. RP 98. 

Defense counsel confirmed the court's belief, noting, "Normally I 

would want to do an investigation on the toxicologist to see what 

the background is. But, that's not the issue in this case." RP 98. 

The State initially charged Rich with possession of a stolen 

vehicle and driving under the influence. CP 1-2. The information 

was later amended to charge the additional crime of reckless 

endangerment. CP 6-7. The jury convicted Rich of driving under 

the influence and reckless endangerment and found by special 

verdict that she was intoxicated with a BAC higher than .15, but 
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acquitted her of possession of a stolen vehicle. 1 CP 47-50; RP 

(5/30/13) 2-5. 

Rich's testimony was, as the Court of Appeals charitably 

observed, "confusing. "2 She testified that she had only recently 

emerged from the apartment complex where she was arrested, that 

she had not been driving beforehand at all, that she had drunk only 

a single shot of alcohol, and that the arresting officer had simply 

turned his car around in front of the apartment complex and, for no 

apparent reason, came over and arrested her. RP 184, 190. 

According to Rich, her "little nephew" was coming out to give her 

the keys as police pulled up. RP 190-91. 

On cross-examination, Rich confirmed that her blood alcohol 

was at about .188 and that she knew the legal limit to drive was .08. 

RP 194. She agreed that she was drunk but claimed not to have 

been affected. llL She confirmed that her nephew had been in the 

car. RP 198. She changed her story on cross-examination and 

said she had two shots and some Mike's Hard Lemonade. 

1 Facts related to the stolen vehicle charge have been omitted from this 
statement of facts for the sake of simplicity. 
2 Regarding similar pretrial testimony, the trial court observed: "The defendant's 
testimony was internally inconsistent, inconsistent with her prior statements, and 
not credible." CP 19. 
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RP 201-04. She admitted she was "tipsy" and that she was 

drinking 80 proof shots. RP 206. 

This was Rich's third DUI conviction and her blood alcohol 

level was over .15, so she faced a minimum 120-day sentence. 

RP (7/26/13) 4.3 The State requested an additional 30 days of jail 

time based on the fact that Rich had placed an eight-year-old child 

at risk. RP (7/26/13) at 2. The court imposed a sentence of 120 

days on the DUI and 20 days consecutive based on the reckless 

endangerment. RP (7/26/13) at 4. 

The Court of Appeals reversed the reckless endangerment 

conviction in a published decision. State v. Rich, No. 70711-6, slip 

op. at 1 (Wash. Ct. App. Div. I, March 23, 2015). It held that 

"(b ]ecause the State failed to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that 

Rich recklessly engaged in conduct that created a substantial risk 

of death or serious injury to another person, the reckless 

endangerment conviction must be vacated." Rich, slip op. at 1. It 

held that to establish "endangerment" the risk of injury must be real, 

"not merely hypothetical or conjectural." Rich, slip op. at 11. 

Although the State never argued for "per se" liability, the Court of 

Appeals relied on a case from Pennsylvania to argue that "there is 

3 Rich also had a prior conviction for Hit and Run, Attended, in 2005. See CP 3. 
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no 'per se' liability for reckless endangerment based on proof of 

violation of the DUI statute." JQ. at 11 (citing Commonwealth v. 

Mastromatteo, 719 A.2d 1081 (Pa. Super. 1998)). The court 

quoted at length from Mastromatteo to suggest that using the 

reckless endangerment statute in conjunction with a driving while 

intoxicated prosecution was an attempt by "zealous prosecutors" to 

expand crimes "to encompass criminal conduct which the offense 

was not designed for ... " !5;l at 12. The Court of Appeals noted that 

"substantial" must mean "considerable." 19... at 13-14. It then held 

that "the State did not present evidence from which the trier of fact 

could infer that Rich's driving created a risk of death or serious 

physical injury that was considerable or substantial." JQ. at 15.4 

D. REASONS REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED AND 
ARGUMENT 

This Court may review a decision of the Court of Appeals 

that raises an issue of substantial public interest that should be 

decided by the Supreme Court. RAP 13.4(b)(4). It is beyond 

question that the appropriate enforcement of DUI laws is a matter 

of substantial public interest, and this case presents such a 

4 The reasoning of the Court of Appeals arose for the first time during oral 
argument and was different from the briefing provided by Rich. This change in 
focus triggered a round of post-argument briefing in the Court of Appeals. 
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question as to drunk drivers who engage in conduct more 

egregious than typical. Specifically, the case asks whether a 

person may be convicted of the misdemeanor of reckless 

endangerment where she drives highly intoxicated, in excess of the 

speed limit, and with a young child in the front seat of the car, or is 

such a crime appropriate only where the defendant drives poorly in 

other ways, too? 

The answer to that question is not presently found in this 

Court's cases, and it is left unclear, at best, by the Court of Appeals 

decision. The Court of Appeals did not articulate the limits of the 

single Pennsylvania case it relied upon, and it did not faithfully 

apply the standard of review for sufficiency of the evidence claims. 

In short, the Court of Appeals' decision applied a newly-minted and 

unclear legal standard to reasonable inferences drawn by ordinary 

jurors, and replaced those inferences with different inferences 

drawn by the appellate court. Because the decision is published, it 

will confound and confuse lower courts rather than provide 

guidance. 
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1. THE DECISION BELOW PROVIDES NO 
STANDARD FOR DETERMINING WHEN 
RECKLESS ENDANGERMENT MAY BE 
CHARGED IN DRUNK DRIVING CASES. 

The Court of Appeals erred in interpreting the reckless 

endangerment statute, which provides as follows: "A person is 

guilty of reckless endangerment when he or she recklessly 

engages in conduct ... that creates a substantial risk of death or 

serious physical injury to another person." RCW 9A.76.160(1). A 

separate statute defines recklessness as follows: "A person is 

reckless or acts recklessly when he or she knows of and disregards 

a substantial risk that a wrongful act may occur and his or her 

disregard of such substantial risk is a gross deviation from conduct 

that a reasonable person would exercise in the same situation." 

RCW 9A.08.010(1)(c). 

There is nothing in this statutory language that forbids 

finding reckless endangerment where a person drives with a small 

child in the front seat of her car after consuming approximately nine 

or ten shots of normal proof alcohol. One would think that a 

reasonable factfinder could conclude from these facts that Rich 

created a substantial risk of death or serious physical injury; the 

conclusion seems to follow quite naturally from the circumstances. 
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In reaching a contrary conclusion, however, the Court of 

Appeals first cited to this Court's decision in State v. Graham, 153 

Wn.2d 400, 103 P.3d 1238 (2005) as if that case restricted the 

State's ability to charge Rich. The court cited Graham for the 

proposition that "[t]he reckless endangerment statute proscribes 

only endangering conduct that places another person at substantial 

risk" and that "the presence of a passenger in the vehicle satisfies 

the victim element of the crime, but is not itself the endangering 

conduct." Rich, slip op. at 8. However, Graham was simply a "unit 

of prosecution case" and it held only that the unit of prosecution in a 

reckless endangerment case "is not the endangering conduct but 

the particular person placed at risk." Graham, 153 Wn.2d at 41 0 

(italics added). This Court affirmed multiple convictions for reckless 

endangerment when a driver endangered multiple passengers at 

once . .!Q.. at 407-08. But this Court never said, much less held, that 

knowingly driving drunk with a small child in the front passenger 

seat could not be considered endangering conduct. Thus, Graham 

does not support the court's analysis in Rich. 

The Court of Appeals may have been influenced by its 

statement that the risk of endangerment in this crime must be an 

"actual one." Rich, slip op. at 11. This statement is somewhat 

- 10-
1504-12 Rich SupCt 



opaque. Clearly, any risk must be real, rather than fanciful. But 

reckless endangerment is, by its very character, an inchoate 

offense that deals with potentialities, not actualities. Graham, at 

407. The crime must be contrasted with "the entire range of 

consummated crimes from which ... [it] is either one step removed 

(no actual harm) or two steps (neither actual harm nor intent to 

harm)." !sL (quoting Albrecht v. Maryland, 105 Md. App. 45, 58, 658 

A.2d 1122 (1995)). By seemingly requiring some actual harm, the 

Court of Appeals elevated the proof required in the statute, contrary 

to the plain language of the statute. 

The Court of Appeals also appears to have been particularly 

influenced by a single decision from an intermediate court of 

appeals in Pennsylvania. !sLat 11-12 (citing Commonwealth v. 

Mastromatteo, 719 A.2d 1081 (Pa. Super. 1998)). Mastromatteo 

drove "in a relatively slow fashion and never came close to any 

other vehicles," and "drifted over the middle line on three