A. INTRODUCTION 

This case involves an ordinary question concerning the sufficiency 

of the evidence: Did the State fail to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that 

Ms. Rich committed the offense of reckless endangerment through her 

driving of an automobile while intoxicated? Given the lack of evidence 

that Ms. Rich's driving was actually dangerous or of how her level of 

intoxication affected her driving, the Court of Appeals correctly held the 

State had not met its burden to prove that Ms. Rich had created a 

substantial risk of death or serious injury to the passenger in her car. The 

State does not argue that this decision is in conflict with precedent or that 

it involves a significant constitutional question. Rather, the State asserts 

this case presents an issue of substantial public interest because it involves 

an issue related to drunk driving. Because the State fails to substantiate 

this claim, this Court should deny review. If this Court accepts review, the 

Court should also review an issue of prosecutorial misconduct. 

B. ISSUES FOR REVIEW 

1. Reckless endangennent requires proof that the defendant acted 

recklessly and that this reckless conduct created a substantial risk of death 

or serious physical injury. At trial, no evidence showed that Ms. Rich's 

driving appeared to be unusual or dangerous. She was not stopped for 

suspicion of driving under the influence. While there was evidence that 



Ms. Rich had driven while under the influence, this evidence did not 

establish that any impainnent was so great that her driving would have 

created the necessary substantial risk. Given the dearth of evidence, did 

the State fail to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that Ms. Rich's driving 

created a substantial risk of death or serious physical injury to the 

passenger in the car? 

2. It is flagrant and ill-intentioned misconduct for a prosecutor to 

argue that in order to believe the defendant or to acquit, the jury must find 

that other witnesses are lying. Ms. Rich testified that she had not been 

driving before being arrested. During closing, the prosecutor 

misrepresented Ms. Rich's testimony and ar~'l.led, "You heard the 

defendant. You have to believe that all the other witnesses came in here 

and lied." The Court of Appeals properly held the prosecutor's argument 

was misconduct. Still, cases to the contrary notwithstanding, the Court of 

Appeals held Ms. Rich waived the issue by not objecting. If this Court 

grants review, should this Court also review this issue of prosecutorial 

misconduct because of the conflict in the precedent? RAP 13 .4(b )(2). 

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

King County Sheriffs Deputy Paul Mulligan testified he was on 

afternoon patrol on May 27,2012. RP 72-74. Around 8 p.m., while it was 

still light outside, Deputy Mulligan heard on his radio that Seattle police 
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had located a stolen vehicle, but lost it. RP 74, 84, 89. As Deputy 

Mulligan was driving southbound on Ambaum Boulevard in Burien, he 

saw a car pass him in the outside lane near 122nd Street. RP 74-75. He 

identified the car as the reported stolen vehicle. RP 75. Without activing 

his lights or sirens, Deputy Mulligan pulled behind the car and followed, 

accelerating to about 50 miles per hour to catch up. RP 75, 78. Deputy 

Mulligan did not testify what the precise speed limit was, only that "it was 

about 35 through that area." RP 75. After traveling about four blocks, the 

car pulled into an apartment complex and stopped. RP 78. Deputy 

Mulligan stopped about 20 feet behind the car, activated his emergency 

lights, and waited for backup. RP 78, 85. 

After two other police officers arrived, the officers arrested Andrea 

Rich, who was in the driver's seat of the car. RP 80, 145. Based on their 

interaction with her, the officers suspected that Ms. Rich was intoxicated. 

RP 80, 146. Before an·esting her, the police claimed to have overheard 

Ms. Rich telling the passenger in the car, a boy appearing to be about eight 

or nine years old, to say that they found the keys and had just got in the 

car. RP 79, 144-45. 

Officer Samuel Copeland, one of the backup officers, testified that 

Ms. Rich told him that her boyfriend, Mohamed, had given her the keys to 

the car about a week ago. RP 147. Ms. Rich, who had a cast on her leg, 
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did not undergo a field sobriety test. RP 80, 119. Two breath test 

samples, taken after Ms. Rich was taken into custody, indicated that Ms. 

Rich had a blood alcohol level of .183 and .188. RP 177. 

The State initially charged Ms. Rich with possession of a stolen 

vehicle and driving under the influence. CP 1-5. The State later amended 

the information to add a count of reckless endangem1ent. CP 6-7. 

Ms. Rich testified that she had not been driving and that police 

arrived as she was entering the parked car after leaving her sister's 

apartment. RP 190, 199. Ms. Rich did not testify that other witnesses 

were fabricating events. RP 184-208. Still, the prosecutor argued that Ms. 

Rich had so testified and that the jury would have to believe that all the 

other witnesses were lying. RP 223-24, 227. The jury acquitted Ms. Rich 

of the stolen vehicle charge, but convicted her of driving under the 

influence and reckless endangerment. CP 47-49. 

On appeal, Ms. Rich argued that the prosecutor engaged in 

misconduct during closing argument, that the prosecutor had been 

pennitted to make an improper missing witness argument, and that the 

evidence was insufficient to establish reckless endangerment. State v. 

Rich, No. 70711-6-I, 2015 WL 1305780 (Mar. 23, 2015). Though 

agreeing the prosecutor had committed misconduct, the Court of Appeals 

held Ms. Rich's first two arguments were waived. Rich, slip op. at 17-19. 
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The Court of Appeals, however, agreed that the State had not proved Ms. 

Rich guilty of reckless endangennent beyond a reasonable doubt. Rich, 

slip op. at 17-19. 

D. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED 

1. This case does not involve an issue of substantial public 
interest. Rather, it involves an ordinary and correct 
application of the sufficiency of the evidence standard to the 
offense of reckless endangerment. Accordingly, this Court 
should deny review. 

The State does not argue that the Court of Appeals decision in this 

case conflicts with precedent or that it involves a significant constitutional 

question. The State only argues that this case presents an issue of 

substantial public interest that should be decided by this Court. RAP 

13.4(b)(4); Pet. at 7-8. The State's argument in support of its position is 

that "appropriate enforcement of DUI laws is a matter of substantial public 

interest." Pet. at 7. The offense of reckless endangennent, RCW 

9A.36.050(1 ), however, is not a part of the driving under the influence 

laws or the motor vehicle code. See chapter 46.61 RCW. Moreover, as 

the Court of Appeals recognized, the "facts cited by the State are largely 

taken into account in assessing the appropriate sentence for DUI." Rich, 

slip op. at 8 n.l. The Court of Appeals also affinned Ms. Rich's 

conviction for driving under the influence. This case simply does not raise 
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an issue related to enforcement of Washington's driving under the 

influence laws. 

Underlying the State's superficial argument that this case presents 

an issue of substantial public importance, is a mere rehash of the 

arguments made below. The State's real contention is that the Court of 

Appeals got it wrong and that this Court should overrule it. However, 

mere disagreement with the Court of Appeals does not justify this Court's 

review. RAP 13.4(b) (stating that this Court will accept review "only" on 

the four grounds listed). Regardless, the Court of Appeals got it right. 

To find Ms. Rich guilty of reckless endangennent, the State had to 

prove beyond a reasonable doubt that ( 1) Ms. Rich acted recklessly and 

(2) that her reckless conduct created a substantial risk of death or serious 

physical injury to another person. CP 40 ("to-convict" instruction); RCW 

9A.76.160(1). Relatedly, the jury was instructed that a "person is reckless 

or acts recklessly when he or she knows of and disregards a substantial 

risk that death or serious injury may occur and this disregard is a gross 

deviation from conduct that a reasonable person would exercise in the 

same situation." CP 41; see RCW 9A.08.010(l)(c). 

Evidence is sufficient to support a dete1mination of guilt only if a 

rational trier of fact, viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to 

the State, could have found guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. State v. 
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Green, 94 Wn.2d 216, 220-22, 616 P.2d 628 ( 1980). Here, the reckless 

endangem1ent conviction was premised on Ms. Rich's driving a car. As 

the Court of Appeals recognized, the evidence did not prove that Ms. 

Rich's driving created a substantial risk of death or serious physical injury 

to another person. Rich, slip op. at 14-15. 

The State does not fairly recount the opinion. The State incorrectly 

represents that the Court of Appeals held that a person cannot be found to 

have recklessly endangered a passenger while driving intoxicated. See 

Pet. at 9 ("There is nothing in this statutory language that forbids finding 

reckless endangennent where a person drives" intoxicated with a 

passenger.). This is not what the Court of Appeals held. The Court of 

Appeals held that given the lack of evidence as to how Ms. Rich's driving 

posed any risk or how Ms. Rich's level of intoxication affected her 

driving, the State failed to meet its burden to prove that Ms. Rich had 

created a substantial risk of death or serious physical injury to the 

passenger in her car: 

The State did not present evidence from which the trier of 
fact could infer that Rich's driving created a risk of death 
or serious physical injury that was considerable or 
substantial. No witness testified that Rich's driving 
specifically posed any risk or discussed generally the risk 
of accident, death, or injury. The toxicologist was not 
asked about, and did not explain, the effects of Rich's 
specific level of intoxication. The evidence that Rich was 
under the influence of alcohol was not sufficient to allow 
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the jury to conclude that her driving created the level of 
risk necessary to support a reckless endangennent 
conviction. 

Rich, slip op. at 14-15. 1 Thus, unlike this case, a case with evidence of 

poor or dangerous driving, or evidence explaining how a person's driving 

was affected by his or her level of intoxication, would be materially 

distinguishable from this case. 

Next, the State's representation of the Court of Appeals' 

interpretation ofState v. Graham, 153 Wn.2d 400, 103 P.3d 1238 (2005) 

is inaccurate. The Court of Appeals merely cited to Graham to support the 

proposition that, "The reckless endangerment statute proscribes only 

endangering conduct that places another person at substantial risk." Rich, 

slip op. at 8 (citing Graham, 153 Wn.2d at 406). Contrary to the State's 

representation, the Court of Appeals did not read Graham to restrict the 

State's ability to charge defendants. Pet. at 1 0; Rich, slip op. at 8-9. 

Neither did the Court reason that Graham dictated the result in this case. 

Pet. at l 0; Rich, slip op. at 8-9. 

1 The State incorrectly represents that the reasoning of the Court of 
Appeals in the opinion supporting reversal arose for the first time during oral 
argument. Pet. at 7 n.4. Ms. Rich, however, argued in both her opening and 
reply briefs that the evidence was insufficient because the State had failed to 
prove the substantial risk element. Br. of App. at 15-20; Reply Br. at 11-13. The 
prosecutor for the State, apparently feeling that she had not answered the panel's 
questions adequately at oral argument, submitted supplemental briefing and 
moved for the Court to accept the briefing. After the Court granted the State's 
motion, Ms. Rich filed additional briefing on the topic as well. 
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In evaluating whether the requisite risk ofhann was supported by 

the evidence, the Court of Appeals properly focused on the word 

"substantial." This meant that the risk had to be "considerable," not 

merely hypothetical or conjectural. Rich, slip op. at 11, 14. The State's 

contention that the Court of Appeals elevated the proof required to prove a 

substantial risk is baseless. Pet. at 11. 

As recounted by the Court of Appeals, and ignored by the State, 

Washine,rton courts have already recognized that dtiving while intoxicated 

does not necessarily establish the crimes of reckless or negligent driving. 

See State v. Amurri, 51 Wn. App. 262, 265, 753 P.2d 540 (1988) 

("Driving an automobile under the influence of intoxicants does not, in 

and of itself, constitute reckless driving."): City of Bellevue v. Redlack, 40 

Wn. App. 689, 694, 700 P.2d 363 (1985) (while proof of intoxication is 

required to establish DUI, "such proof alone does not warrant a conviction 

for negligent driving"). While these crimes have different elements and 

are not controlling, they inform a proper construction of the reckless 

endangerment statute. Rich, slip op. at 11. It would be inconsistent if 

driving while under the influence was sufficient to prove a substantial risk 
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of death or serious physical injury to a passenger, but the same driving did 

not also qualify as negligent or reckless driving.2 

The State makes much from the fact that the Court of Appeals' 

analysis is supported by a sister state's jurisprudence. To illustrate that 

merely driving while intoxicated does not necessarily create a substantial 

risk of death or serious physical injury, the Court of Appeals cited a case 

from Pennsylvania: Commonwealth of Pennsylvania v. Mastromatteo, 719 

A.2d I 081 (Pa. Super. Ct. 1998). There, in a case with substantially 

similar evidence and law, the Pennsylvania court held the evidence was 

insufficient to convict an intoxicated driver of reckless endangerment. 

The court rejected the State's argument that the evidence of the driver's 

mere intoxication was adequate alone. Mastromatteo, 719 A.2d at 1082. 

Rather than being a reason for granting review, Mastromatteo 

shows that the Court of Appeals' analysis is sound. In any event, contrary 

to the State's argument, the Court of Appeals did not adopt Mastromatteo 

or even rely on the opinion significantly. See Rich, slip op. at 11-12. 

2 "Any person who drives any vehicle in willful or wanton disregard for 
the safety of persons or property is guilty of reckless driving." RCW 46.61.500. 

Negligent driving is set out at RCW 46.61.5249 and RCW 46.61.525. 
"Negligent" means "the failure to exercise ordinary care, and is the doing of 
some act that a reasonably careful person would not do under the same or similar 
circumstances or the failure to do something that a reasonably careful person 
would do under the same or similar circumstances." RCW 46.61.5249(2)(a); 
RCW 46.61.525(2). 
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Though the State arblUes otherwise, the Court of Appeals did not adopt any 

"rule" from Mastromatteo or Pennsylvania. Pet. at 14. 

Finally, the Court of Appeals faithfully applied the standard of 

review used in sufficiency of the evidence challenges. Excluding Ms. 

Rich's intoxication, the State's only criticism of Ms. Rich's driving was 

that she may have briefly exceeded the speed limit. See RP 214 (State's 

closing argument). This criticism was based on Deputy Mulligan's 

testimony that "it was about 35 [miles per hour] through that area" and 

that he had to accelerate to about 50 miles per hour to catch up to Ms. 

Rich. RP 75. Deputy Mulligan then testified that he followed Ms. Rich 

for about four blocks before she parked at an apartment complex. RP 78, 

85. He did not testify about his rate of speed while he followed Ms. Rich. 

Neither Deputy Mulligan nor any other witness testified that Ms. 

Rich's rate of speed, which must have been less than 50 miles per hour, 

was dangerous or even unusual. As common experience tells us, drivers 

often exceed the speed limit without creating a substantial risk of death or 

serious physical injury. This Court has recognized that speeding is not 

necessarily reckless. See State v. Randhawa, 133 Wn.2d 67,77-78,941 

P .2d 661 ( 1997). Further, if Ms. Rich's rate of speed had actually been 

dangerous, it seems unlikely that Deputy Mulligan would have accelerated 

11 



to about 50 miles per hour, in order to catch up, without activating his 

emergency lights and sirens first. RP 75, 78. 

As for Ms. Rich's intoxication, the testimony was only that it was 

"obvious," not extreme. RP 120. Moreover, the toxicologist only testified 

in general how alcohol affects a person, not how Ms. Rich herself would 

have been affected by her bloodalcohollevel. RP 132-33. As discussed, 

Washington courts already recognize that merely driving under the 

influence does not make one guilty of reckless or negligent driving. Here, 

the State needed to do more than merely prove that Ms. Rich drove while 

under the influence to establish that her driving created a substantial risk 

of death or serious physical injury. 

The State wrongfully claims that the Court of Appeals altered the 

standard for proving reckless endangennent and misapplied the standard 

of review in sufficiency challenges. Pet. at 17. The Court of Appeals 

correctly held the evidence was insufficient to prove reckless 

endangerment. Because this case does not involve an issue of substantial 

public concem, this Court should deny review. 
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2. The Court of Appeals correctly recognized the prosecutor 
committed misconduct during closing argument. Yet, 
contrary to other cases, the Court held this misconduct did 
not justify reversal because Ms. Rich did not object. If 
review is granted, this Court should also review this issue 
given the conflict in the precedent. 

During closing argument, the prosecutor misrepresented Ms. 

Rich's testimony, contending that she had testified that police fabricated 

everything: 

Now, the defendant can testify. And she told a totally 
different story. She said that the car owner- and all of the 
officers testified, Deputy Mulligan, Deputy Copeland
they just made it all up, everything they said was a 
fabrication, and only she is telling you the truth. 

RP 223-24. The prosecutor then argued that to believe Ms. Rich or to 

acquit, the jury had to accept Ms. Rich's "preposterous" testimony and 

believe that all the witnesses called by the State "lied": 

She gave a preposterous story. You heard the defendant. 
You have to believe that all the other witnesses came in 
here and lied. 

RP 227. 

The Court of Appeals correctly held the prosecutor's argument was 

misconduct because "[t]his type of argument misrepresents the role of the 

jury and the burden ofproofby telling jurors they must decide who is 

telling the truth and who is lying before deciding if the State has met its 

burden of proof." Rich, slip. op. at 16 (citing State v. Fleming, 83 Wn. 
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App. 209,213,921 P.2d 1076 (1996); State v. Wright, 76 Wn. App. 811, 

825-26,888 P.2d 1214 (1995)). The Court of Appeals also correctly 

recognized that this "improper argument was exacerbated by the 

prosecutor's previous mischaracterization of Rich's testimony and 

incorrect assertion that Rich herself testified that the other witnesses lied 

and that only she was telling the truth." Rich, slip. op. at 17. 

While recognizing this flagrant prosecutorial misconduct, the 

Court reasoned that the prejudicial effect of the comments could have 

been neutralized by an objection and curative instruction. Rich, slip. op. at 

17. In so holding, the Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with other 

decisions reversing despite a lack of an objection. Fleming, 83 Wn. App. 

at 213-16; State v. Miles, 139 Wn. App. 879,889-90, 162 P.3d 1169 

(2007) (prosecutor's argument that jury had to believe the defendant's 

evidence in order to find him not guilty was flagrant misconduct justifying 

reversal). If this Court grants review on the sufficiency ofthe evidence 

issue, the Court should also grant review on this issue of prosecutorial 

misconduct because ofthe conflict in the caselaw.3 RAP 13.4(b)(2). 

3 This Court is currently reviewing another case of prosecutorial 
misconduct where the prosecutor made a similar improper "liar" argument during 
closing. State v. Mickelson, No. 89920-7 (oral argument heard on September 11, 
2014). 
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E. CONCLUSION 

The sufficiency of the evidence issue presented by the State does 

not involve an issue of substantial public concem. Thus, this Court should 

deny the State's petition for review. If review is granted, the Court should 

also review the issue conceming prosecutorial misconduct because of the 

conflict in the precedent on that issue.